Tranexamic acid soaked NasoPore[®] to improve the management of epistaxis

Eleanor Rosario¹, Ekta Sharma¹, Ankit Patel¹, Gabrielle Guvensen², Rizal Ashroff¹, Fiona McClenaghan¹, Ahmad Hariri³, and Jonathan Joseph¹

¹University College London Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust ²University College London Medical School ³St. Mary's Hospital

November 16, 2022

Abstract

Objectives The aim of this study was to assess the efficacy of a new emergency department intervention for the management of epistaxis, aiming to reduce epistaxis admissions. Design Tranexamic acid (TXA) (500mg/ml) soaked NasoPore[®] packing was in the pathway for epistaxis which did not terminate following 10 minutes of simple first aid. The pathway was utilised for adult patients presenting with non-traumatic, anterior epistaxis. Pre- and post-implementation admission rates and re-attendance rates were recorded by retrospective audit at a large central London hospital. Results Epistaxis admissions were reduced by 51.7% (p<0.05) following the implementation of the TXA-soaked NasoPore[®] pathway. Conclusions The significant reduction in epistaxis admissions demonstrates that this intervention is beneficial for patient outcomes. This has the potential to be introduced in other A&E departments and also pre-hospital settings.

Tranexamic acid soaked NasoPore $^{\mathbb{R}}$ to improve the management of epistaxis

Abstract

Objectives

The aim of this study was to assess the efficacy of a new emergency department intervention for the management of epistaxis, aiming to reduce epistaxis admissions.

Design

Tranexamic acid (TXA) (500mg/ml) soaked NasoPore[®] packing was introduced to the pathway for epistaxis which did not terminate following 10 minutes of simple first aid. The pathway was utilised for adult patients presenting with non-traumatic, anterior epistaxis.

Pre- and post-implementation admission rates and re-attendance rates were recorded by retrospective audit at a large central London hospital.

Results

Epistaxis admissions reduced by 51.7% (p<0.05) following implementation of the TXA-soaked NasoPore[®] pathway.

Conclusions

The significant reduction in epistaxis admissions demonstrates that this intervention is beneficial for patient outcomes. This has the potential to be introduced in other A&E departments and also pre-hospital settings.

Key words: epistaxis, pathway, admissions, quality improvement, tranexamic acid

Key points

- 1. Non-dissolvable intranasal packs in the management of epistaxis typically result in patients being admitted to hospital
- 2. Non-dissolvable packs are frequently used in A&E, prior to review by the ENT team
- 3. Alternatives to these packs have the potential to reduce epistaxis admissions
- 4. Introduction of tranexamic acid-soaked dissolvable packing reduced epistaxis admissions in our department
- 5. This intervention has the potential to be introduced more widely and in pre-hospital settings

The authors declare that there are no conflicts of interest associated with this work.

Data is available on reasonable request from the corresponding author.

Introduction

Epistaxis is the most common otolaryngological presentation to accident and emergency (A&E) in the UK¹. The incidence of patients attending UK emergency departments with epistaxis is reported as 108 per 100 000 local population annually². In 2017, NHS hospital statistics reported 25 000 A&E attendance with epistaxis³. Of the total attendances, approximately 25% require admission or specialist treatment². In our local centre, we noted that patients presenting with epistaxis were frequently treated with non-dissolvable nasal packs in A&E, necessitating admission under the Ear, Nose & Throat (ENT) team.

Current National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) guidelines for the management of acute epistaxis suggest 15 minutes of first aid, followed by silver nitrate cautery if possible and then non-dissolvable packs such as nasal tampons (e.g. Merocel[®]) or inflatable packs (e.g. Rapid-Rhino[®]) if bleeding continues⁴. A 2020 nationwide epistaxis audit found that 54.4% of patients attending with epistaxis were packed with non-dissolvable packing in A&E, and a further 18.9% by an ENT specialist doctor⁵.

Non-dissolvable packing is classically associated with hospital admission¹, whereas British Rhinological Society (BRS) guidelines advocate discharge for patients with dissolvable packing³ (e.g. NasoPore[®]). In March 2020, in light of covid-19, ENT-UK published new guidelines for epistaxis management which introduced the use of dissolvable packing in the treatment algorithm⁶. Reasons for this were two-fold. Firstly, to reduce exposure to the upper aerodigestive tract by healthcare professionals, and secondly to reduce admissions, both preserving bed capacity and reducing patient exposure to covid-19 in hospital¹.

Despite the above BRS guidance, subsequent national audit of epistaxis management found A&E utilisation of dissolvable packing to be only $2\%^1$. On call ENT doctors reported that non-dissolvable packs were already inserted by A&E in 45% of cases, prior to their attendance, necessitating admission¹.

A 2017 systematic review of intranasal packing for epistaxis noted no complications related to the use of dissolvable packing in the management of epistaxis⁷. Strategies to reduce A&E use of non-dissolvable nasal packs, in favour of dissolvable packing, could reduce epistaxis admissions in UK hospitals whilst maintaining patient safety.

As well as reducing admission rates, it is important to consider length of admission and risk of re-bleeding. Systematic review has demonstrated reduced re-bleeding rates and shorter admissions in epistaxis patients treated with topical tranexamic acid (TXA), without increased complication rates⁸. A 2018 Cochrane review of TXA use in epistaxis found a 23% reduction in risk of re-bleeding within 10 days when topical TXA was utilised, however noted a small number of studies specifically investigating this⁹.

Objectives

Our rationale for introducing TXA-soaked NasoPore[®] to the A&E epistaxis management pathway was to achieve the following aims. Firstly, to reduce local epistaxis admissions, and secondly, to achieve this in a manner which is evidence-based and maintains patient safety.

Methods

Design

A new stepwise pathway was introduced for the management of non-traumatic, anterior epistaxis in A&E (figure 1). This intervention involved the collaboration between A&E and ENT teams. Dissolvable nasal packing was introduced for epistaxis which did not terminate following 10 minutes of simple first aid. The packing used was TXA (500mg/ml) soaked NasoPore[®].

Patients were discharged if there was no further bleeding one hour after insertion of TXA-soaked NasoPore[®]. Awareness of this pathway was raised with an educational campaign to aid implementation.

Prior to this intervention, if conservative measures were ineffective, non-dissolvable packs were inserted (typically Rapid-Rhino[®]).

A retrospective audit of all epistaxis presenting to A&E was conducted pre- and post- implementation of the TXA-soaked NasoPore[®] pathway (n=245).

Setting

A large central London hospital.

Participants

All patients aged over 18 presenting to A&E with spontaneous epistaxis during the study period. Verbal consent was obtained from patients prior to pack insertion.

Main outcome measures

Management of epistaxis, admission rates and re-presentation rates were recorded over seven months pre-implementation, from 01/08/2019-29/02/2020 (n=159), and eight months post-implementation, from 01/08/2020-31/03/2021 (n=86). Data was not collected during the height of the covid-19 pandemic (March 2020 to July 2020), due to the confounding effect on admission rates.

Statistical analysis was performed using the two-proportion z-test, with a significance level p < 0.05.

Reporting is in line with the SQUIRE 2.0 framework for quality improvement.



Results

159 patients presented with epistaxis in the pre-implementation period (22.7 per month), and 86 in the post-implementation period (10.8 per month).

In the pre-implementation period, epistaxis terminated with conservative measures only in 83.0% of patients. The remaining 17.0% were packed with non-dissolvable packs in A&E, all of whom were admitted to hospital. In the post-implementation period, 66.3% terminated with conservative measures, 5.8% received non-dissolvable packs, and were admitted, and 27.9% received dissolvable packing (TXA-soaked NasoPore[®]). 29.2% of those receiving NasoPore[®] required further packing with non-dissolvable packs and were subsequently admitted. 2 patients packed with NasoPore[®] re-attended with epistaxis (8.3%), and 3 patients who were discharged following conservative measures re-attended (5.3%). See table 1.

27/159 patients in the pre-implementation group required more than conservative measures (17%), all of these required admission (100%). 29/86 patients in the post-implementation group required more than conservative measures (33.7%). Of these, 12 patients were admitted (41.0%). Therefore, there was a statistically significant (p < 0.0001) reduction of 59.0% in admissions, after discounting those patients managed with conservative measures only.

After including the 2 patients who re-attended and were admitted following NasoPore[®] with TXA administration, the proportion admitted post-intervention rises to 48.3%. This results in a decrease in admissions of 51.7% in admissions, still statistically significant (p < 0.0001).

Hosted file

image2.emf available at https://authorea.com/users/525226/articles/595698-tranexamic-acidsoaked-nasopore-to-improve-the-management-of-epistaxis

Discussion

The introduction of dissolvable nasal packing in the A&E epistaxis treatment algorithm was successful in reducing epistaxis admissions locally. The main strengths of this project were ease of use by the A&E team, the initial collaboration between A&E and ENT teams in the planning of the project and the capacity to continue the intervention over time.

The utilisation of dissolvable nasal packs in A&E departments has been demonstrated to be drastically lower than the use by otolaryngology doctors in both the UK and the USA^{1,10}. The average length of stay for an epistaxis admission is reported as $3.2 \text{ days}^{11,12}$. In the United States of America (USA), the estimated cost per epistaxis admission is almost \$7000¹².

Not only are hospital admissions costly, they can also be detrimental to the patient. Patients in hospital are at risk of venous thromboembolism, falls, physical and cognitive deconditioning and contraction of nosocomial infections ^{13–16}. In addition, during the covid-19 pandemic, admissions to hospital increased patient risk of contracting covid-19. In December 2020, 1 in 4 new covid-19 cases were estimated to have been contracted in hospitals¹⁷. As such, it is of the utmost importance that medical specialties consider methods to reduce the number of hospital admissions in their patients.

Considerations of introducing NasoPore[®] to the epistaxis treatment pathway include cost and availability of NasoPore[®]. There is a paucity of research comparing cost-effectiveness of NasoPore[®] with non-dissolvable packs, this analysis would be useful to help emergency departments decide whether to include NasoPore[®] in their epistaxis pathway.

NasoPore[®] has been found to be superior to non-dissolvable Merocel[®] nasal packs with regard to in-situ pain, pain of removal and re-bleeding rate¹⁸. However, there is limited evidence comparing Rapid-Rhino[®] to NasoPore[®], although Rapid-Rhino[®] is typically better tolerated than Merocel^{®19}.

There were several limitations to this study. Firstly, it is noted that 33.7% of epistaxis patients were packed with dissolvable or non-dissolvable packs post-intervention vs 17% pre-intervention. It is possible that A&E

clinicians are more comfortable inserting NasoPore[®] than non-dissolvable packs, thereby reducing the threshold to pack. It is also possible that conservative measures were applied less effectively (e.g. pinching nose for a shorter period) as NasoPore[®] could be used, without requiring admission as non-dissolvable packing does.

Secondly, the rate of attendance to A&E with epistaxis was much lower in the post-implementation period, with a reduction seen of almost 12 per month. The post-implementation period was during the second wave of the covid-19 pandemic, when reductions in non-covid A&E attendances were seen across the world, for example in the UK, Italy and the USA²⁰⁻²². It is possible that fear of attending A&E meant that patients only attended when epistaxis was severe. This could offer further explanation as to the increase in the percentage of patients in the post-implementation group requiring more than conservative measures. If this is the case, the use of TXA-soaked NasoPore[®] is further supported as we saw an decrease in epistaxis admissions, despite the potentially increased severity presenting to A&E.

The covid-19 pandemic in itself may have skewed the admission rates seen in the study compared to noncovid times, due to enhanced admission avoidance during this time period. It would be helpful to repeat data collection in a time period with low covid-19 hospital attendance rates, in order to confirm long term validity of the intervention.

Increasing use of dissolvable nasal packs in A&E can reduce the number of admissions to hospital. Introduction of a formal pathway is a helpful way to encourage this. This intervention is sustainable if the pathway is taught to incoming A&E clinicians and if the stock of NasoPore[®] is maintained. There is scope to trial this pathway across multiple centres and assess whether admissions are reduced on a larger scale. In addition, TXA-soaked NasoPore[®] could be introduced in pre-hospital settings, for example by paramedics, to reduce the number of initial A&E attendances with epistaxis in the first place.

Conclusion

Our study has demonstrated the potential to reduce epistaxis admissions by including a TXA-soaked dissolvable pack step in the A&E epistaxis treatment algorithm. In order to achieve this reduction in admissions, education of A&E clinicians was required and it is important that this is repeated on a regular basis in order to maintain the results observed.

The implementation of this treatment algorithm across the UK requires A&E departments to be well stocked with supplies of NasoPore[®] and TXA, and for clinicians to be comfortable using these. Larger scale studies would be helpful to determine the feasibility of introducing this pathway in both A&E and pre-hospital settings, and also to assess patient experience and satisfaction with dissolvable versus non-dissolvable nasal packing. Next steps include re-assessment to assess long term adherence and the post-covid validity.

Tables & figures

Figure 1: TXA-soaked NasoPore[®] pathway for emergency clinicians

 Table 1: A&E management and outcome

References

1. INTEGRATE (The UK ENT Trainee Research Network), Hardman JC, Smith ME, Swords C, Rocke JPJ, Walker A, et al. Admission avoidance in acute epistaxis: A prospective national audit during the initial peak of the COVID-19 pandemic. Clinical Otolaryngology. 2021 May;46(3):577–86.

2. Eze N. Advice given to patients with epistaxis by A&E doctors. Emergency Medicine Journal. 2005 Oct 1;22(10):724–5.

3. National ENT Trainee Research Network. The British Rhinological Society multidisciplinary consensus recommendations on the hospital management of epistaxis. J Laryngol Otol. 2017 Dec;131(12):1142–56.

4. National Institute for Health and Care Excellence. Clinical Knowledge Summaries: acute epistaxis [Internet]. 2022. Available from: https://cks.nice.org.uk/topics/epistaxis-nosebleeds/management/acute-epistaxis/

5. INTEGRATE (The UK ENT Trainee Research Network). Nasal Packs for Epistaxis: Predictors of Success. Clin Otolaryngol. 2020 Sep;45(5):659–66.

6. ENT UK. COVID-19 Epistaxis Management [Internet]. 2020. Available from: http://orlcg.me/files/documents/0a48afd1-f0a7-4089-9097-c3ac1037b472.pdf

7. Iqbal IZ, Jones GH, Dawe N, Mamais C, Smith ME, Williams RJ, et al. Intranasal packs and haemostatic agents for the management of adult epistaxis: systematic review. The Journal of Laryngology and Otology. 2017 Dec;131(12):1065–92.

8. Gottlieb M, DeMott JM, Peksa GD. Topical Tranexamic Acid for the Treatment of Acute Epistaxis: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. Ann Pharmacother. 2019 Jun;53(6):652–7.

9. Joseph J, Martinez-Devesa P, Bellorini J, Burton MJ. Tranexamic acid for patients with nasal haemorrhage (epistaxis). Cochrane ENT Group, editor. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews [Internet]. 2018 Dec 31 [cited 2022 Oct 26];2018(12). Available from: https://doi.wiley.com/10.1002/14651858.CD004328.pub3

10. Richardson C, Abrol A, Hamill CS, Maronian N, Rodriguez K, D'Anza B. Improving efficiency in epistaxis transfers in a large health system: Analyzing emergency department treatment variability as pretext for a clinical care pathway. American Journal of Otolaryngology. 2019 Jul 1;40(4):530–5.

11. Fishpool S, Tomkinson A. Patterns of hospital admission with epistaxis for 26,725 patients over an 18-year period in Wales, UK. annals. 2012 Nov;94(8):559–62.

12. Goljo E, Dang R, Iloreta AM, Govindaraj S. Cost of management in epistaxis admission: Impact of patient and hospital characteristics. Laryngoscope. 2015 Dec;125(12):2642–7.

13. Ramagopalan SV, Wotton CJ, Handel AE, Yeates D, Goldacre MJ. Risk of venous thromboembolism in people admitted to hospital with selected immune-mediated diseases: record-linkage study. BMC Med. 2011 Jan 10;9:1.

14. Melin CM. Reducing falls in the inpatient hospital setting. Int J Evid Based Healthc. 2018 Mar;16(1):25–31.

15. Chen Y, Almirall-Sanchez A, Mockler D, Adrion E, Dominguez-Vivero C, Romero-Ortuno R. Hospitalassociated deconditioning: Not only physical, but also cognitive. Int J Geriatr Psychiatry. 2022 Feb 2;37(3).

16. Saleem Z, Godman B, Hassali MA, Hashmi FK, Azhar F, Rehman IU. Point prevalence surveys of health-care-associated infections: a systematic review. Pathog Glob Health. 2019 Jun;113(4):191–205.

17. Oliver D. David Oliver: Could we do better on hospital acquired covid-19 in a future wave? BMJ. 2021 Jan 13;372:n70.

18. Wang J, Cai C, Wang S. Merocel versus Nasopore for nasal packing: a meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. PLoS One. 2014;9(4):e93959.

19. Hesham A, Ghali A. Rapid Rhino versus Merocel nasal packs in septal surgery. The Journal of Laryngology & Otology. 2011 Dec;125(12):1244–6.

20. Reschen ME, Bowen J, Novak A, Giles M, Singh S, Lasserson D, et al. Impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on emergency department attendances and acute medical admissions. BMC Emerg Med. 2021 Nov 20;21(1):143.

21. Yu J, Hammond G, Waken RJ, Fox D, Joynt Maddox KE. Changes In Non-COVID-19 Emergency Department Visits By Acuity And Insurance Status During The COVID-19 Pandemic. Health Aff (Millwood). 2021 Jun;40(6):896–903.

22. Santi L, Golinelli D, Tampieri A, Farina G, Greco M, Rosa S, et al. Non-COVID-19 patients in times of pandemic: Emergency department visits, hospitalizations and cause-specific mortality in Northern Italy. PLOS ONE. 2021 Mar 22;16(3):e0248995.